

## Original Research Article

# The Effect of Drinking Style on Alcohol-Related Harm and Readiness to Change among the Indigenous Communities of Sabah

### ABSTRACT

**Aims:** This study aims to examine the effect of drinking style on alcohol-related harm and readiness to change among the indigenous communities of Sabah.

**Study design:** This study applied quantitative research design using survey method.

**Place and duration of study:** Study was conducted in the West Coast Division of Sabah, between Sept 2018 to Dec 2018.

**Methodology:** A total of 56 villagers between age 18 to 56 years old (29 female, 27 male) were participated in this study. Purposive sampling by using Alcohol Use Identification Test (AUDIT) was applied to select hazardous and harmful drinkers among the indigenous communities of Sabah Data were analyzed by using IBMSPSS version 22.0.

**Results:** The study found a positive and significant effect of drinking style towards alcohol-related harm and readiness to change. The willingness and ability to make changes in their current behavior to the new behavior of drinking indicate participants who are at the hazardous and harmful drinking styles were reported experienced negative alcohol consequences. At the same time also, participants have shown their willingness and ability to make changes in their current behavior to the new behavior of drinking.

**Conclusion:** These findings are significant to provide direction for the next action plan for intervention purposes aims to reduce the alcohol-related harm among the indigenous communities of Sabah.

**Keywords:** Hazardous drinking, harmful drinking, alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harm, readiness to change, indigenous communities.

**Comment [F1]:** These are synonyms

UNDER PEER REVIEW

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Alcohol is a psychoactive substance with dependence-producing properties. Ethanol or ethyl alcohol is the ingredient found in beer, wine, and liquor that causes drunkenness. The consumption of alcohol has been attributed to more than 200 diseases and injury conditions (WHO, 2014; Rehm, Shield, Rehm, Gmel & Frick, 2012). It directly or indirectly causes a large number of communicable and non-communicable diseases, many serious social ills including violence to women and children, bodily injury resulting from road traffic accidents and even harm to the unborn fetus through fetal alcohol syndrome (WHO, 2014). Heavy episodic drinking is the major cause of alcohol-related harm, mainly due to cardiovascular disease and accidents. The effects of alcohol depend on the volume consumed the pattern of drinking and the type of alcohol drinking (WHO, 2005). Alcohol has effects on every organ in the body but these effects depend on the Blood Alcohol Concentration (BAC) over time (Zakhari, 2006). BAC is the amount of alcohol in the bloodstream, measured in percentages. Having a BAC of 0.10 percent means that a person has 1-part alcohol per 1,000 parts blood in the body.

Alcohol is the third-largest risk factor for burden disease in the world (WHO, 2014). Malaysia is listed as the tenth-largest consumer of alcohol in the world (Arshad, Omar & Shahdan 2015). Alcohol consumption considered to be part of the culture and it's a problem among some of the indigenous communities of Sabah and Sarawak with the highest prevalence of risky drinking in Malaysia. Mutalip et al. (2014) were reported that Sabah is the third leading for the highest prevalence of risky drinking in Malaysia after Kuala Lumpur and Sarawak (Mutalip et al., 2014). Especially for the indigenous communities of Sabah, alcohol is considered a part of their culture and a way of maintaining it. Alcohol is been served in many festivals in Sabah such as New Year, Christmas, Harvest festival or known as Kaamatan, birthday celebration, wedding, etc. Alcohol and the consumption of alcohol in Sabah peaks during the Kaamatan month (yearly in

**Comment [F2]:** The older citation preceed the newer citation. For instance, it should be (Rehm, Shield, Rehm, Gmel & Frink, 2012; WHO, 2014)

**Comment [F3]:** What is it?

May) among Kadazandusun communities (Singh, 2018). It is been practiced by the indigenous communities of Sabah to refresh energy after tiredness, release stress, gotong-royong, enhancing joyfulness of ceremony, as well as welcoming people (Lasimbang et., 2018). Even more, the price of alcohol is controlled by the government of Sabah during the festive season, so traders cannot take advantage and profit by raising prices (Daily Express, 2016).

Jamali et al. (2009) stated that these communities consume alcohol as early as 15 years with traditional home-brewed alcohol such as Tapai and Montoku and later venture into drinking “western-style” beverages such as beer and spirits. There are several types of local drinks in Sabah (i.e. Montoku, Tapai, Sikat, Lihing, Kinopi, and Siopon) with different percentages of alcohol. The content of alcohol in a drink that consumed will influence the BAC in the body of an individual which then contributes to the risk of alcohol-related consequences. The risk is including the physical and psychological effects of the drinkers. The negative physical and psychological effects of consuming alcohol depend on three factors: the volume consumed, the pattern of drinking and the type of alcohol drinking (WHO, 2005).

There are 5 patterns of alcohol consumption, namely no problem, low risk, hazardous, harmful and dependence (Babor, Higgins-Biddle, Saunders & Monteiro, 2001). It is also known as drinking style which can be identified by scores on the Alcohol Use Identification Test (AUDIT). The AUDIT comprises a set of important questions for the screening stage to identify the drinking styles of alcohol consumption. The AUDIT score can classify the negative consequences of alcohol use and it can be used for appropriate intervention. Leaflet education about drinking is suitable for those who are at no problem (0 scores on AUDIT) and low risk (1-7 score on AUDIT) drinking styles. Simple advice and brief education about alcohol consumption are suitable for hazardous (8-15 score on AUDIT) drinking style. While harmful (16-19 score on AUDIT) is recommended for brief counseling and continued monitoring to change drinking

behavior, health education, skill-building, and practical suggestions. However, the dependent drinker is required withdrawal program to enable the drinker to stop drinking, and ongoing interventions to remain abstinent (e.g. counseling, pharmacotherapy, self-help programs).

Knowing how much alcohol constitutes a 'standard drink' can help determine how much is being drunk and understand the risks. The standard drink can be defined as content in the drink that can measure how much alcohol is being consumed (WHO, 2014). There are 4 categories of drinks and percent of alcohol in the standard drink (Lasimbang, et al., 2018) that can be seen in Figure 1. Beer with 5% of alcohol content is the first category which consists of 330ml or 1 can of beer is count as one standard drink. The second category is content about 12% of alcohol or 140ml of Wine, Bahar, Stout, Kinopi or Siopon. The third types of standard dink are Montoku, Sikat and hard lihing which content about 25-30% of alcohol or 70ml of these drinks. The fourth category of a standard drink is content about 40-45% of alcohol or 40ml of Whisky, Brandy, Vodka and some traditional beverages of Sabah (hard Montoku and Sikat).



#### **Beer**

- About 5% alcohol.
- 330ml or 1 can.



#### **Wine, Bahar, Stout, Kinopi, Siopon**

- About 12% alcohol.
- 140ml.



#### **Montoku, Sikat, hard Lihing**

- About 25–30% alcohol.
- 70ml.



#### **Whiskey, Brandy, Vodka, some traditional beverages: hard Montoku and Sikat**

- About 40–45% alcohol.
- 40ml.

**Figure 1: One Standard Drink**

Source: Lasimbang, H. B., Shoesmith, W. D., James. S., Eckermann, E., Iggau, A. E., Kouk Tiung, L., Joseph, A., Salumbi, E., Linus, I. & Chong, J. (2018).

Besides, the drinking patterns can also be used to explain the risk of alcohol consumption of an individual, which then could lead to the next action aims to reduce the risk. The various culture of drinking becomes challenges in getting people to drink with sensible. Previous studies reported that consuming alcohol brings some benefits such as enhancing the joyfulness of ceremonies, helping to celebrate and socialize (Fortin, et al., 2015; Hoops, 2011; Jamali et al., 2009). It is also practicing among the indigenous culture of Sabah which alcohol is been used to welcome people as well as enjoying ceremonies (Asmat, 2018). However, consuming alcohol at

high risk is never being part of these cultures instead it can destroy the aims of these cultures (Asmat, 2018). Most people acknowledge that the misuse of alcohol causes additional burdens that go beyond health (Mumtaz et al., 2016; Rehm et al., 2012). Even though alcohol abuse can cause major long-term and short-term psychological problems for the abuser and their family and community, it can have a very temporary positive impact on our moods and emotions. As people start to drink, they tend to feel peaceful, happy, confident or even brave. Nonetheless, alcohol misuse incites harmful bodily side effects, and in the long run, worsens the very symptoms that the abuser sought to remedy by using alcohol (NAMI, 2013).

Making a change in behavior requires individuals to recognize the stage in the cycle of change to set achievable goals and action steps and to determine the best strategies of behavior change (Prochaska, Norcross & Diclemente, 1994). Prochaska and DiClemente (1983) were introduced the 5 stages of change that happens gradually over time. The stages started with the person progression from unwilling to make a change (pre-contemplation), to considering a change (contemplation), to deciding and preparing to make a change (preparation), taking action on the new behavior (action), and maintaining the behavior over time (maintain). It is also important to understand the negative effect of current behavior to make a change. In this study, knowing the negative consequences of drinking style help to understand the risk of drinking. Besides, knowing the intention to make a change in the drinking style would also provide direction for the next action plan. Therefore, this study aims to examine the effect of drinking style towards alcohol-related harm and readiness to change among the indigenous communities of Sabah.

## **2. METHODOLOGY**

### **2.1 Participants and location**

Purposive sampling was applied to select hazardous and harmful drinkers among the indigenous communities of Sabah. As recommended by Babor et al. (2001) hazardous and harmful drinkers are suggested for brief education and brief intervention to reduce the alcohol related-harm. By knowing the impact of drinking style towards alcohol-related harm would help to develop an appropriate intervention for further study. Screening by using AUDIT was done to select participants who scored between 8 to 19 on AUDIT or know as hazardous and harmful drinkers. The data was collected in one community meeting during the 'Leaders United Event of indigenous people of Sabah' at PACOS-Trust located in Penampang, Sabah. PACOS-Trust stands for Partnership of Community Organization. PACOS-Trust is a community-based organization dedicated to supporting indigenous communities in Sabah. A total of 171 villagers were screened which represented the West Coast Division of Sabah. However, only 56 villagers were eligible and agreed to participate in this study. Mostly, participants were Kadazandusun with 92.31% and only 7.69% were Bajau. There were 58.46% were females and 41.54% were males, where 78.46% were Christian and 21.53% were Muslim. As for the job sector, 63.08% of participants were working as self-employed, 27.69% were working with private companies and only 9.23% were working with governments.

**Comment [F4]:** Given that you decided to use purposive sampling, by the way it is mostly used in qualitative research, I fail to see the exclusion and inclusion criteria that led you to this number

**Comment [F5]:** On the theme "result and discussion" you mentioned that the questionnaire had Part A, B and C. However, I see part A not being discussed in results and discussion – relook at the highlighted.

## 2.2 Materials and procedures

This study was used AUDIT with 10 items to select participants and identify the drinking style of participants. The Brief Young Adult Alcohol Consequences Questionnaire – 30-day version (BYAACQ-30) (Kahler, Strong, & Read, 2005) with 24 items was used to measure alcohol-related problems. Besides, the Stage of Change Readiness and Treatment Eagerness Scale (SOCRATES) (Miller & Tonigan, 1996) with 24 items was used to measure an individual's readiness to change behavior specific to problematic alcohol consumption. This study was started with screening to identify the drinking style and to select participants. Those who are eligible and agreed to participate were then asked to complete the consent form and answer a

**Comment [F6]:** It cannot be " this study was used " – grammatical error

**Comment [F7]:** Rather say, "This study started with ..."



set of questionnaires. A set of the questionnaire consists of part A (demographic questions), Part B (BYAACQ-30 questions) and Part C (SOCRATES). The internal consistency of the BYAACQ-30 as measured using Cronbach's alpha was .862 while SOCRATES was .900.

### 2.3 Data analysis

Data were analyzed by using IBMSPSS.22. Statistic descriptive was used to measure the demographics of participants. While linear regression was used to examine the effect of drinking style towards alcohol-related harm of the indigenous communities of Sabah.

## 3. RESULT AND DISCUSSION

The result of the regression indicated the drinking style predictor explained 27.0% of the variance in the alcohol-related harm ( $R^2=.27$ ,  $F(1,54)=19.94$ ,  $p<.001$ ). It was found that the drinking style significantly predicted alcohol-related harm ( $\beta=.519$ ,  $P<.001$ ), ( $t=4.466$ ). This study found a significant positive effect of drinking style towards alcohol-related harm in the indigenous communities of Sabah. This is explaining people at hazardous and harmful drinking styles were experienced alcohol-related negative consequences such as social-interpersonal consequences, impaired control, self-perception, self-care, risk behavior, academic/occupational consequences, excessive drinking, and psychological dependence.

**Comment [F8]:** Lack of literature to back up your results.

The analysis was also done to examine the effect of drinking style readiness to change of participants. It was found that the drinking style contributed 16.0% of the variance in the readiness to change ( $R^2 = .16$ ,  $F(1,54)=10.54$ ,  $p<.005$ ). The result showed that the drinking style significantly predicted readiness to change of participants ( $\beta=.400$ ,  $p<.005$ ), ( $t=3.25$ ). This study reported a significant positive effect of the drinking style towards readiness to change among the indigenous communities of Sabah. It is explaining that the individuals at hazardous and

harmful drinking styles were reported with the intention to make a change in their drinking style. Participants were shown their willingness and ability to make changes in their current behavior to the new behavior of drinking by being more active, engaged willingness and ability to adopt a new practice of behavior.

The significant positive effect of drinking style towards alcohol-related harm, explaining the individual who is at the hazardous and harmful drinking styles were reported experienced negative alcohol consequences. This is confirmed the previous findings stated that alcohol use increased the risk factor for health (Burtin & Sheron, 2018; Babor et al., 2001). For example, drinking style of participant caused them to act unexpected behaviors when being drunk such as said or done embarrassing things, gotten into sexual situations that later regretted, woken up in an unexpected place, spent too much time on drinking as well as created problems (between myself and my boyfriend/ girlfriend/spouse, parents, or other near relatives). It is also been mention by previous studies that hazardous and heavy alcohol consumption is correlated to many health (Cherpitel et al., 2009; Greenfield, 2001) and social problems (Room et al., 2003).

As found in this study, hazardous and harmful drinking styles were also caused participants to health problems such as loss of energy or tiredness, headache and sick stomach, low performance at work or school, weakened their memory and have changed their physical appearance. Being drunken also sometimes caused participants to irrational behavior which leads them to become very rude, obnoxious or insulting after drinking. Similar findings were also reported that heavy alcohol consumption leads to accidents, criminal, dependence that contributes to serious health consequences (Lim et al., 2012; Rehm, et al., 2012) and increases the chances of hurting oneself or others due to accidents, violence, and suicide (Gómez-Restrepo et al., 2014; Conner et al., 2014; Berman, 2014; AL-Abdallat et al., 2016). Moreover, high-risk drinking style increased people come late at work and leaving early, having discipline

**Comment [F9]:** Relook at this statement because you are suppose to report and I see inconsistency with future tense and past tense on the same line.

**Comment [F10]:** Were you trying to say 'This study confirmed the previous findings that alcohol use increased the risk factor for health (Babor et al., 2001; Burtin & Sheron, 2018)'?

**Comment [F11]:** Copy this style of writing throughout your manuscript

problems, loss or low productivity, higher turnover, theft or other crime, poor relations between co-workers, low cooperation at work, and thus reduced the company productivity and company morale as well (Anderson, 2012; Collins, 2016).

**Comment [F12]:** Language editor needed here

**Comment [F13]:** Also look at the work of Matlakala (2018); Matlakala, Makhubele and Mafa (2019) on google scholar

Hazardous and harmful drinking is the drinking style that explains the risk of alcohol consumption of someone. The drinking styles can be described as a quantity or pattern of alcohol consumption that places individuals at risk for adverse health circumstances (Saunders et al., 1993). In Sabah, alcohol has become a source of happiness and unhappiness in their family and community. Shoesmith et al. (2018) were explored the impact of alcohol use on the indigenous communities' wellbeing in Sabah. She found that alcohol has both positive and negative consequences in the community and their wellbeing. According to Shoesmith et al. (2018), consuming alcohol at a low-risk level is used to improve social connectedness and social activities which make them socialize more effectively. However, drinking at high risk (i.e. hazardous, harmful and dependent) contributed to fights, family conflicts, domestic violence and even more than that caused to break up the family. Besides, it was also reported that alcohol caused too many worries about the family's future, safety and economic security among these communities.

**Comment [F14]:** Why such an old source?

**Comment [F15]:** Were you trying to say

In a study conducted by Shoesmith et al. (2018), it was reported that alcohol has both positive and negative consequences in the community and their wellbeing. For instance, alcohol consumption at a low-risk level is used to improve social connectedness and social activities which make them socialize more effectively (Shoesmith et al., 2018).  
?

**Comment [F16]:** Avoid writing in scientific manner, state it in full

This study also found the drinking style effected the readiness to change participants among the indigenous communities of Sabah. On the other hand, participants have shown their action taken of moving to a new behavior of drinking to reduce the negative consequences of alcohol. It also explains the participants' willingness and ability to adopt a new practice of behavior that can be used for action to be taken for intervention purposes. According to Prochaska (1997), knowing participants' readiness to change is important to provide direction for the therapist to lead patients from one stage to the next stage of behavior change. Motivation is considered a key factor in alcohol use disorder treatment by influencing patients to seek, comply and

complete treatment for long-term success in their drinking (DiClemente et al., 1999). Enhancing motivation in a patient's readiness is used to seek and engage with treatment interventions. Making people change requires individuals to understand the negative effects of their current behavior. Readiness to change or willingness of an individual to adapt new behavior could predict alcohol intake and reported have a strong relationship with each other (Harris, Walters & Leahy, 2008).

#### **4. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION**

This study has shown the positive significant effect of drinking styles towards alcohol-related harm which explains the high-risk of alcohol consumption caused to the negative alcohol consequences. The drinking styles of the indigenous communities of Sabah were not only impacted on their health but also caused to the social and economic problems. The finding was also reported the positive significant effect of drinking styles on the readiness to change among these communities. These findings are significant to provide direction for the next action plan for intervention purposes to reduce alcohol-related harm among the indigenous communities of Sabah. As alcohol is claimed to be part and a way of maintaining the culture of these communities, considering that culture to be included in the intervention program is important. Therefore, this study suggests that the alcohol harm reduction approach is suitable for these communities, where, they can reduce the negative consequences of alcohol and at the same time still maintaining their culture of drinking.

Besides, this study also recommends the importance of motivation in the intervention as participants have shown their actions taken of changing their drinking style. It is because motivation plays an important role in influencing patients to seek, comply and complete

treatment for long-term success in their drinking. This study also supported the suggestion by Babor et al. (2001) that brief intervention is recommended for participants at the hazardous and harmful styles of drinking. The success brief intervention to improve motivation for change should come along with brief counseling, education about drinking and continue monitoring to help participant success in their changing process.

### ETHICAL APPROVAL

This study was given ethical approval by the Ethics Committee at Universiti Malaysia Sabah with ethic approval code JKEtika3/17(3).

### REFERENCE

1. World Health Organization (WHO). Alcohol and inequities Guidance for addressing inequities in alcohol-related harm. Geneva, Areagraphica Snc Di Trevisan Giancarlo & Figli. 2014.
2. Rehm J, Shield KD, Rehm MX, Gmel G, Frick U. Alcohol consumption, alcohol dependence and attributable burden of disease in Europe: potential gains from effective interventions for alcohol dependence. Canada: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. 2012.
3. World Health Organization (WHO). Global health adds life to years. Geneva, World Health Organisation. 2005.
4. Zakhari S. Overview: How is alcohol metabolized by the body? Alcohol Research & Health. 2006;29(4): 245–254.
5. Arshad MRM, Omar M, Shahdan NA. Alcoholism among youth: a case study in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. *International Journal of Culture and History*.2015;1(1):21-28.
6. Mutalip MHB, Kamarudin RB, Manickam M, Hamid HAB, Saari RB. Alcohol consumption and risky drinking patterns in Malaysia: findings from NHMS 2011. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*. 2014;49(5): 593–599.

7. Singh J. Alcohol abuse a disease – disease. Borneo Post online may 20, 2018. Retrieved from [www.theborneopost.com/2018/05/20/alcohol-abuse-a-disease-doctor/](http://www.theborneopost.com/2018/05/20/alcohol-abuse-a-disease-doctor/) on 30 May 2018.
8. Lasimbang HB, Shoemith WD, James S, Eckermann E, Iggau AE, Kouk Tiung L, Joseph A, Salumbi E, Linus I, Chong J. *Alcohol Toolkit*. Kota Kinabalu, Sabah. Persatuan Pencegahan Penyalahgunaan Alkohol. 2018.
9. Daily Express. *Beer disenaraikan sebagai barang terkawal*. 16 Disember 2016.
10. Jamali M, Mustapha Z, Ismail R. Pola dan faktor yang mempengaruhi peminuman minuman keras remaja Dusun Malaysia. *Malaysian Journal of Society and Space*. 2009;5(2):82-101.
11. Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC, Saunders JB, Monteiro MG. AUDIT, the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: guidelines for use in primary health care. 2nd edition. Substance Abuse Department, *World Health Organization*. 2001;1-38.
12. Fortin M, Moulin S, Picard E, Belanger RE, Demers A. Tridimensionality of alcohol use in Canada: Patterns of drinking, contexts and motivations to drink in the definition of Canadian drinking profiles according to gender. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. 2015;106(2):59-65.
13. Hoops SB. Socialization with alcohol or alcohol as socialization: an actor-network theory approach to understanding college student alcohol use. *Honors Projects*. 2011:1-38.
14. Asmat J. *Alcohol can destroy the aim of Aramaiti*. Daily Express 22 May 2018.
15. Mumtaz W, Vuonga PL, Xiac L, Malika AS, Abd Rashid R. Automatic diagnosis of alcohol use disorder using EEG features. *Knowledge-Based Systems*. 2016;105:48-59.
16. National Alliance on Mental Illness. 2013. *Alcohol and mental illness*.
17. Prochaska JO, Diclemente CC. Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: Towards an integrative model of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 1983;51:390-395.

18. Prochaska JO, Norcross JC, Diclemente CC. *Changing for Good*. New York: Avon Books.1994.
19. Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC, Saunders JB, Monteiro MG. *AUDIT, the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: guidelines for use in primary health care*. 2nd edition. Substance Abuse Department, World Health Organization: 2001.
20. Kahler CW, Strong DR, Read JP. Toward efficient and comprehensive measurement of the alcohol problems continuum in college students: The Brief Young Adult Alcohol Consequences Questionnaire. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 2005;29(7):1180–1189.
21. Miller WR, Tonigan JS. Assessing drinkers' motivation for change: The Stages of Change Readiness and Treatment Eagerness Scale (SOCRATES). *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*. 1996;10: 81-89.
22. Burtin R, Sheron N. No level of alcohol consumption improves health. *The Lancet*. 2018;392:987-988.
23. Cherpitel CJ, Moskalewicz J, Swiatkiewicz G, Ye Y, Bond, J. Screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment (SBIRT) in a Polish emergency department: three-month outcomes of a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*. 2009;70:982–990.
24. Greenfield TK. *Individual risk of alcohol-related disease and problems*. In: Heather N, Peters TJ, Stockwell T, editors. *International Handbook of Alcohol Problems and Dependence*. New York: John Wiley. 2001:413–437.
25. Room R, Graham K, Rehm J, Jernigan D, Monteiro M. Drinking and its burden in a global perspective: policy considerations and options. *European Addiction Research*. 2003;9:165–175.
26. Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani H. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. 2012.

27. Gómez-Restrepo C, Gómez-García MJ, Naranjo S, Rondón MA, Acosta-Hernández AL. Alcohol consumption as an incremental factor in health care costs for traffic accident victims: evidence in a medium sized Colombian city. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*. 2014;73:269-273.
28. Conner KR, Huguet N, Caetano R, Giesbrecht N, McFarland BH, Nolte KB, Kaplan NS. Acute use of alcohol and methods of suicide in a us national sample. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2014;104(1):171-178.
29. Berman M. Suicide among young alaska native men: community risk factors and alcohol control. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2014;104(3):329-335.
30. AL-Abdallat IM, Ali RA, Hudaib AA, Salameh GA, Salameh RJ, Idhair AK. The prevalence of alcohol and psychotropic drugs in fatalities of road-traffic accidents in Jordan during 2008-2014. *Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine*. 2016;39:130-134.
31. Anderson P. *Alcohol and the workplace*. Barcelona, Department of Health, Government of Catalonia. 2012.
32. Collins SE. Associations between socioeconomic factors and alcohol outcomes. *Alcohol Res*. 2016;38(1):83-94.
33. Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, De La Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption. *Addiction*. 1993;88:791-804.
34. Shoesmith WD, James S, Lasimbang HB, Salumbi E, Eckermann E. Diamond dialogue: a tool to explore alcohol-related harm and strengthen community action. *Borneo Journal of Medical Sciences*. 2018;12 (2):19-26.
35. Prochaska JO. The Transtheoretical Model of Health Behavior Change. *American Journal of Health Promotion*. 1997;12(1):38-48.
36. DiClemente CC, Bellino LE, Neavins TM. Motivation for change and alcoholism treatment. *Alcohol Research & Health*. 1999;23(2):86-92.



37. Harris TR, Walters ST, Leahy MM. Readiness to Change Among a Group of Heavy-Drinking College Students: Correlates of Readiness and a Comparison of Measures. *Journal of American College Health*.2008;57(3):325-30.

**Comment [F17]:** Arrange the reference list in alphabetic order

UNDER PEER REVIEW